# Levelling Up: the role of planning

By an independent group of planning practitioners and academics.

The authors are grateful to the Town and Country Planning Association for hosting this pamphlet on the TCPA web site but stress that it does not represent TCPA policy.

Available at https://www.tcpa.org.uk/levelling-up-report

2021

# **Table of Contents**

Why Levelling Up will fall flat on its face	
The sections of this pamphlet	5
Why we need planning to support delivery of Levelling Up	8
Why reverse the 1947 Act reforms?	
Will reversing the 1947 Act reforms be successful for landowners?	9
What will society lose if the 1947 Act reforms are reversed?	
What could a new Planning Act do for society now?	11
Planning for Housing	12
Orthodox explanations	12
Critiques	13
Proposed reforms	14
Solutions	15
Planning for the economy —recovery, infrastructure and local survival or	
transformationtransformation	16
Current problems to be tackled	16
Framing the question: rhetorical "Levelling Up" versus tackling the foundations	16
Current wrong approaches	17
New approaches needed	18
Restoring local government is key to Levelling Up	20
The problem	21
Where does town planning come in?	22
Local authority views	22
Solutions	23
Green Recovery	25
The crisis of climate change	25
Planning and the green recovery	
What are the new jobs in the green recovery?	26
Zero carbon homes	
Active travel	
Renewable energy	
What do the planning reforms mean for the green recovery?	
What does a planning system for a green recovery need to do?	27
Conclusions	29
Loyalling Lip and alimate action together	20

# Why Levelling Up will fall flat on its face

Recent statements by the Government and Tory think tanks seek to justify their repeated attacks on the planning system as a contribution to the Levelling Up agenda of the Johnson government<sup>1</sup>. The authors of the present pamphlet make a diametrically opposite argument — that the planning reforms will do nothing to level up or reduce glaring geographical inequalities in our country: in fact, they will make these disparities even worse.

The Conservative idea is that by allowing more permitted development rights and reducing requirements to submit planning applications under a new Development Plans regime, "red tape" will be removed, and so make development (particularly new housing schemes) cheaper and faster. The report by Morton et al. is explicit that the aim must be to show potential development gains from these reforms before the next general election<sup>2</sup>.

A storm of protest met the proposed reforms in the Planning White Paper in August 2020 – followed by the crushing defeat of the Government at the Chesham and Amersham by-election in June 2021 widely linked to the planning reforms. Since then the Government signaled it may back off some of its more extreme planning proposals, but the intention to reduce regulation over planning for development in many areas will surely remain in place and find its way into new planning legislation or policy.

We argue in this pamphlet that, not only will the likely reforms completely undermine the possibility of equalising our highly unequal country, but they will make impossible an effective climate change response. A strong democratic planning system is essential for levelling up and for tackling climate change.

Given that the Levelling Up agenda is now enthroned in the core rhetoric, if not the practice, of almost all government departments, it is both tactically and strategically important that the relationship between planning and Levelling Up is understood.

In part good planning is important for the Levelling Up agenda (if taken seriously), because good planning is needed everywhere in England, at all levels. But we are saying that planning matters in ways additional to this, in places most in need of improvement. There are two reasons for this "planning bonus" effect for levelling up success.

One reason is planning's capacity to integrate across key agenda fields: well-being via incomes and good housing, addressing environmental issues, linking diagonally so that improvement works up and down from neighbourhoods through to regions. Integration matters everywhere. Planning should be a key policy tool to lead integration.

The second reason is the capacity for planning to operate democratically, returning control to councils working with communities. Planning has decades of practice in managing conversations about futures. Declining areas cannot be levelled up by government fiat. Comprehensive and patient improvement is needed based upon local consensuses. New sorts of plans can lead this particularly in areas with big social and economic problems. This would represent beefed up public planning and reinstating control over permitted development, not more planning stripping.

We are far from being the only ones making this argument. The July 2021 report by APSE and TCPA<sup>3</sup> on how local government must lead improvement of life across the country stresses the dramatic loss of control by local authorities caused by the extension of Permitted Development Rights. Our special focus is on the impact that planning reforms are having and will have on these central issues of recovery from the pandemic and on spatial and non-spatial equity.

The term 'Levelling Up' is attached as a justification for many recent Government policy announcements with a Levelling Up White Paper due in the autumn. You might think that town planning would be central to any serious strategy for Levelling Up but such is its ideological hostility to planning, the Government would rather limit local council planning powers further than put democratic planning to use as a positive tool for reducing inequality.

We argue that throwing pots of money at localities, or at big infrastructure projects, as appears to be the Government approach to levelling up, is an extremely wasteful use of public money, if not combined with strategic thinking, whether in plans or in some shared public conversations about regional disparities. Spatial and locational fairness and efficiency must go hand in hand. Levelling Up has to be planned, if it is not to fall flat on its face.

When Governments in the past have set out to address regional inequalities and the 'North/South Divide', they have taken a serious approach using indices of deprivation across the country to target investment. No such seriousness or evidence-based policy is yet forthcoming from the 'Levelling Up' agenda pursued by this Government. Levelling Up is a slogan not a policy —with careful planning nowhere to be seen.

# The sections of this pamphlet

The purpose of this pamphlet is to highlight the impact of the planning reforms on four areas of Government that should be crucial to Levelling Up (housing, economy, local government and climate change policy). We point out in each case what a programme for Levelling Up would look like if tackling it were taken seriously.

We begin by recalling **the founding purpose of the UK planning system** which was precisely to bring spatial coherence and democratic control into the distribution of land uses and development across the country. This purpose has been undermined steadily over the last 30 years, so that investors, landowners and developers have far more influence than the general public that has to live with the consequences. We argue that not only is this trend unhelpful for businesses that want some certainty about the spatial pattern of development, but there is wide public concern about the threatened loss of the residual democratic safeguards that remain in the planning system (the right of the public to comment on planning applications).

We then turn to **housing** and the fundamental role the housing system plays in generating social and economic inequality, contributing powerfully to disparities of income, wealth and health between regions and within towns, cities and rural areas. The planning reforms, though pretending to tackle the housing crisis, will not do so because the Government priority is on making land available for market housing rather than tackling the massive shortage of social housing (estimated to be 90,000 new units per year where current output is 6,000 per year). The reforms will therefore not reduce housing costs for those on low incomes, nor address the

condition of the existing housing stock, nor ensure new development is truly sustainable. The planning reforms will reinforce existing social and geographical disparities in housing.

The **economic impact** of the Levelling Up agenda and the planning reforms also run in opposite directions. The planning reforms do not aim to tackle economic inequalities across the country but are largely about opening up still further the housebuilding market and giving a green light to 'infrastructure' projects like new roads. This will mean for example reducing planning controls on new development in 'the North'. It is likely to rely on 'trickle down' to distribute benefits from commercial projects, a strategy that singularly failed to help poorer communities in the regeneration projects of the 1980s. Another part of the Government pitch is to promote 'Freeports' as a catalyst for economic regeneration without any clear plan about how this will be achieved. At the same time, it has adopted the practice of claiming that any investment that happens to be located 'in the North' contributes to Levelling Up. It is a far cry from a strategic plan to reverse decades-long de-industrialisation, de-skilling and increased poverty.

A fourth section of the report looks at **local government**. We argue there can be no Levelling Up without strong well-resourced local government (including properly funded local authority planning departments). There is no indication that Government comprehends the contradiction that Levelling Up can be achieved without acknowledging the decades-long cuts to public services that have increased inequality. It somehow thinks that it can continue to bear down on funding for local government for years ahead and yet claim it is aiming to 'level up'. If local government services underpinning local communities are not restored (in everything from social care through to housing, education, transport and libraries) any investment in Levelling Up elsewhere will mean very little where it matters.

Local councils do not accept that throwing money at pet capital projects of new MPs in 'Red Wall' seats via the so called Levelling Up Fund is either democratic or has meaningful social and economic impact. They challenge the Government to explain exactly what they mean by Levelling Up, how it will be measured, who will benefit, and whether funding will be made available to rebuild local government services —without which no Levelling Up is possible.

Finally, we look at the **climate crisis** and the massive contradiction that without a highly effective and well resourced planning system climate change cannot be contained or its impacts equalised. You cannot go low carbon without a spatial planning system which strictly regulates land use, which plans where infrastructure is located and engages with local communities. For example, you cannot change transport behaviour or achieve low carbon homes without a strengthened (and publicly supported) local planning system. The planned reform offers none of this, indeed it barely mentions the climate crisis, and provides no new planning tools to deal with climate change.

If Government is to take Levelling Up seriously —that is, to move beyond pork barrel politics and slogans— there are blueprints and precedents out there, so far ignored by Government. For decades the UK has benefitted from research and policy analysis about spatial and non-spatial inequalities which are widely understood as no longer just features of industrial structural change. The 2070 Commission<sup>4</sup> reviews much of this analysis and calls for a comprehensive New Deal intervention by Government, and the Marmot report on Greater Manchester demands

a major public health programme to reduce shocking health inequalities<sup>5</sup>. Nothing like this is part of the Levelling Up agenda. Government could show it is serious by adopting these blueprints. It could make a useful start by scrapping the planning 'reforms' and starting again.

This pamphlet is produced by a group of planning researchers, practitioners and academics.<sup>6</sup>

Bob Colenutt, Oxford Brookes University, editor Michael Edwards, UCL Naomi Luhde-Thompson, Oxford Brookes University Tim Marshall, Oxford Brookes University Janice Morphet, UCL

Contact: Dr Bob Colenutt (bobcolenutt@msn.com) and Dr Andy Inch (a.inch@sheffield.ac.uk).

# Why we need planning to support delivery of Levelling Up

Levelling Up was a principal manifesto commitment of the Prime Minister in the 2019 election campaign as part of his post-Brexit vision. However, when *Planning for the Future* was published as a Government White Paper for England in August 2020, the explanation of its purpose was unrelated to Levelling Up and focused instead on its role in removing the basis of planning legislation as set in the 1947 Town and Country Planning Act, the foundation for all subsequent planning legislation and practice. In the Prime Minister's words in the foreword to the White Paper, the only thing to do to the planning system was 'to tear it down and start again'<sup>7</sup>. What effects would such a rollback of 75 years of legislation have on places, people, land and development which all contribute to achieving Levelling Up? The Government's approach to regulatory principles for land, the ideology behind removing the current system and the likely outcomes for the future is siloed. How can places be 'levelled up' if the market is being let rip? And does the market really welcome the freedoms proposed?

At the heart of the 2020 White Paper, the proposed removal of the 1947 Planning Act fails to recognise that it was a significant component of the construction of the post-1945 welfare state. Alongside the creation of the NHS, new towns, national parks and nationalisation of utilities, planning was part of establishing a state that was more effective, efficient, equitable and fair. The adoption of the 1947 Planning Act had long antecedents. In the 1930s, there had been some controls on the use of land for development by private owners but it remained largely unchecked as the effects of sprawl, ribbon development and the 'octopus' featured in the popular press and fiction. Local authorities had some powers to build housing, engage in the delivery of public utility services and health but not enough to protect the countryside and to create places that served their communities. The need for the introduction of a universal planning system to support these benefits and their distribution was set out by Patrick Abercrombie in 19339. He set out the differences between adopting a planning system and the then prevailing system of laissez-faire. Planning is about supporting improvements in public health, providing healthy and adequate housing for all and efficient places to work. This meant more focus on some people and places rather than others. Have society's needs changed so much that we no longer need to guarantee these basic principles in society?

During the 1939-1945 war, the debate on the creation of healthy places, with schools, health centres, parks and cultural facilities gathered pace. The Scott and Uthwatt reports were commissioned by the government to review land betterment and compensation –unusually appearing in summary form in popular Penguin editions<sup>10</sup>, such was the interest in these issues at home and among serving troops. Other Penguin paperbacks were published on the role of town planning by Thomas Sharp in 1940<sup>11</sup>. In 1944 Flora Stephenson and Phoebe Pool set out a plan for town and country in a series edited by, among others, Sir William Beveridge, Julian Huxley and Charles Madge while Abercrombie and Forshaw's Plan for London was published in 1944. As Julian Huxley put it,

'Why is this subject so important?

On the face of it, the planned use of land – or 'physical planning' as it is sometimes called might seem to be a subject for experts, remote from everyday life. Nothing could be further from the case. This is a kind of planning that affects us all vitally. It decides whether or not we all live in surroundings which will give us health and efficiency, and which are, at the same time, beautiful and pleasant....

Yet without our help and our active support the planners can effect nothing'12

What did all these authors see as the benefits of a planning system to the nation and what was needed to deliver it? The 1947 Act removed the development rights of landowners and placed them all within a regulatory system. It identified land as a national not a private asset. Landowners could make profits, initially subject to a betterment levy; society's needs for the use of this scarce resource had to come first. The government and public bodies could acquire land at existing use values to develop new towns or comprehensive redevelopment for town centres, roads or neighbourhoods through negotiation or ultimately compulsory purchase. The economic, social and environmental needs of the country came first and before private interests. That is not what is proposed in the 2020 White Paper.

# Why reverse the 1947 Act reforms?

But for those ideologically supportive of a free market, the welfare state, including the 1947 Planning Act, has always been regarded as unnecessarily restrictive on their personal freedoms and the market. The regulatory frameworks established to protect and improve society in the welfare state, supported by those adopted in the European Union to create public value<sup>13</sup> rather than private gain have always been an anathema to some. Introduction of competition and outsourcing into the public sector through the reform of the World Trade Organisation and its predecessor from 1962 onwards<sup>14</sup> has always been part of a longer term plan for the reversal of the welfare state. While this now so-called neo-liberal policy has been implemented across all public services in the UK, including health and education, what is left to restore to the market to the pre-welfare-state position? Planning has been under attack from free marketeers since 1961, when the Land Compensation Act removed the rights of public bodies to acquire land at existing use value, thus rendering public development more difficult and expensive and diverging from practices in other OECD countries<sup>15</sup>. Planning delivery for public benefits has been successfully undermined through loosening of regulation, weakening policies and government initiatives to promote the delivery of private house building. Increasingly the connection between town planning as a means of securing the public benefits of places and their contributions to the economy and society has been decreased. Removing the 1947 Planning Act is seen as the last act of reversal of the welfare state and a return to a von Hayek view of the market from the 1930s. The welfare state would probably never have been implemented if the 1939-1945 war had not occurred.

# Will reversing the 1947 Act reforms be successful for landowners?

Yet will returning development rights to landowners be successful even for them and generate more profitable development for them? Since the 1930s, financial and investment systems have

changed. More guarantees are required by investors who are legally required to undertake due diligence before investing shareholder and institutional funds. If there is no planning system to regulate the use of neighbouring sites and the quality of the environment in which a development is located, then what will result? There may be an initial dash for development but the more likely result is an investment pause or freeze. If values cannot be guaranteed in the longer term, is there any legal basis for investment? Without planning control, how will services be provided? Will these developments result in shanty towns or half-completed ghost developments seen elsewhere in the world?

And how will communities react to this lack of control and restriction on their involvement? If government at local or national level cannot guarantee their contribution to planning decisions, will they sit idly by? As already demonstrated in local elections, planning issues can result in a loss of political power at local level and as Conservative MPs have been warning in Parliament, the electorate is unlikely to support unregulated development anywhere in the country.

How will this deregulation affect the economy? If land is not designated and protected for use for employment, will it be lost to housing? If so, where will people work in the future and will they be able to access these locations? While the pandemic has offered more people the opportunities for working and shopping from home, communities need facilities to exercise their minds and bodies, access friends and relations and go on holiday. A failure to plan for these facilities and, in some cases, fund them from developer surplus, will mean that they will not exist or have to be funded through taxation.

If developers are potentially able to make unrestricted profits on their land holdings, will they be taxed more or will this be greater income for them? In the 1930s, many large houses and their estates were sold and developed as a means of funding death duties. The state thus had some means of clawing back wealth albeit after death. Now Inheritance tax is shown to be largely avoidable so increased wealth may just be passed to the next generation without any return to the state.

# What will society lose if the 1947 Act reforms are reversed?

If the foundations of the planning system are removed, land ownership rights are reversed and the use of land is deregulated, what will be the results for society? The first major concern will be the effect on the economy. Where will pension funds, insurers, sovereign wealth funds and other institutions place their investment? If property values cannot be guaranteed through a democratic planning system, then these risk-averse funds will need to find other outlets. This is not likely to be within England but more likely to be abroad where land management systems are governed and regulated in more predictable ways.

Where will new employment sites be found? Will landowners want to make their sites available when other land uses are more profitable? How will these sites be serviced by transport and other utilities if not planned at the outset? How can there be efficiencies in co-location investment for businesses and their work forces? Planning provides the basis for spatial investment across England

Without the planning system how can land be reserved for open spaces, allotments, social infrastructure and culture? How can these facilities be located so that people can access them easily? How can cultural providers, restaurants and commercial leisure operators expect support for the nighttime economy if their locations are dispersed and not supported by other public services such as transport and the NHS? Without a planning system how can we guarantee reaching the country's net zero targets? How will development be prevented on land liable to flood or that is contaminated? Will there be enough available drinking water to meet the needs of dispersed housing developments? What will be the cost to society of taking children long distances to school or nurseries if these are not planned as part of communities?

The government indicated in the Planning White Paper that all land would be designated into either a development or protected use status but it did not provide any principles for these designations. How would they be enforced? What system would there be to change these allocations if landowners lobby government? When the 1947 Planning Act was implemented it had a zoning system, set out in the Initial Development Plan that was devised on a range of principles to meet economic, social and environmental needs but it was scrapped and replaced in 1968 as it was seen as inhibiting development and investment. More evidence here of the growing influence of the market in relation to private housing provision after earlier housing mortgage reforms by Harold Macmillan.

# What could a new Planning Act do for society now?

In order to achieve the country's environmental targets, identify and save land for a range of housing tenures, ensure that communities have access to workplaces and open space, the planning system needs to be strengthened and not weakened. In 1985, the then Secretary of State for the Environment, Nicholas Ridley, a champion of free market thinking in the Conservative Party, recommended Margaret Thatcher to abolish the planning system. Initially an attractive idea to Thatcher, she quickly withdrew any support when shown by the markets, landowners, developers and investors what the consequences for the country would be. Ridley achieved some of his objectives by removing 'town centre first' policies and allowing out of town development for retail and employment uses. It is the resulting car-dependent development that is now one of the most urgent issues to be addressed in order to achieve net zero. Global warming and the environmental crisis means that the balancing of individual interests against collective needs is even more of an imperative than at any time since 1947.

As this pamphlet demonstrates, the gradual unpicking and weakening of the planning system in favour of the market has had major societal consequences which are recognised by communities, businesses and investors. Dismantling the 1947 Planning Act may be a liberal dream, long awaiting fulfilment by some but it will be a nightmare for society, its communities, its wellbeing and its wealth if it is implemented. Planning adds value and it is time to remember and strengthen its fundamental role in Levelling Up as attempts are made to dismantle the contribution that it makes to our lives.

# **Planning for Housing**

Britain's housing system today is an enemy of 'Levelling Up'. For most people, access to housing is via markets (to buy or to rent) so people get what they can afford. In a period of massive and growing inequality this means growing affordability problems for much of the population, homelessness, overcrowding and slum conditions for many. That's inevitable. The housing system transmits and amplifies inequality from generation to generation and within generations, reinforcing class and geographical divides. This in turn conditions life chances for social classes: young people from non-owner families can't afford university without debt, are less able to start up businesses or to have the widest choice of jobs.

These features of our housing system apply everywhere in the UK but in some ways they also contribute to the geographical inequalities which seem to be the target of the government's 'Levelling Up' slogan: rich regions and towns compared with poor regions and towns. This is because the massive variation in house prices makes it almost impossible for owner-occupiers to move from low-price regions to high-price regions. Big rent differentials make it hard for renters to move to high-rent regions unless they have secure and well paid jobs to go to. These barriers to mobility are a frustration to those affected and bad for the health of the economy since not everyone's skills and capacities can be fully realised.

Our housing stock accounts for 19% of CO2 emissions and the car-dependent travel most of us are almost forced into by our settlement patterns contributes a further 34%<sup>16</sup>. Covid-19 has brought home forcibly how severe are our health inequalities and how housing and environmental inequality has impacted working class, and especially many ethnic minority, people, cooped up without space for work, privacy or self-isolation and often without access to green space for exercise or safe encounters.

# **Orthodox explanations**

Recent years have seen mounting controversies about how Britain's housing and related planning problems should be understood, with rival simplifications jostling for the attention of press, policymakers and citizens. In 2021 we are facing the challenge of possible new planning 'reforms' based upon one of these simplifications: the idea that planning is the reason for falling housing affordability so relaxations of planning will provide the solution.

We are asked to believe that the problems of housing affordability are wholly or mainly due to inadequate supply of homes relative to demand, broadly as would be the case for typical manufactured commodities. This shortage of supply is, in turn, wholly or mainly due to the fact that the British planning system and practices ensure that output of new homes in the market is lower than it could and should be. These planning practices are said to be expressions of NIMBY, anti-development, attitudes among incumbent property owners which restrict the flow of new development projects, resist suburban intensification schemes and changes of use of land.<sup>17</sup>

Policy prescriptions flowing from this narrative are for de-regulation and re-regulation: merging and diluting use classes to enable owners to switch between uses, new development rights to

add storeys to buildings, reduced public participation opportunities, fewer social housing obligations on developers and so on. Most salient, perhaps, is the proposal in the 2020 White Paper to return to private owners of most land the entitlement to develop –the entitlement which was removed in 1947 and underpinned the possibility for the law to enable public acquisition at existing use value. If these measures are enacted it would become extremely hard in future to achieve large-scale public acquisition of land on the model which gave us the post-war new towns and enables so many local communities in the Netherlands, Germany and elsewhere to share the benefits of land value growth, good planning, first class social infrastructure and housing which actually meets the needs and means of the citizens.<sup>18</sup>

# **Critiques**

The orthodoxy of this supply-side narrative is the subject of a growing and powerful range of challenges from a wide range of economic schools of thought and political positions. Within the mainstream, one dominant thread is the argument that house prices are determined substantially by interest rates —in much the same way as other asset prices like bonds— and not by supply deficiency<sup>19</sup>. That critique has something in common with the many analysts who emphasise financialisation —the sustained expansion of credit, and specifically financialised mortgages for house purchase (and re-mortgaging), as a driver and facilitator of price escalation<sup>20</sup>. A number of scholars have mounted critiques from very broad perspectives and have pointed out that it would take many many years for enlarged housing supply to bring prices down detectably, and that would be swamped by the rates of price inflation we have recently seen<sup>21</sup>. One important contribution has been Cheshire's focus on how much more housing people acquire as they get richer (more space, more quality, more surrounding amenities)<sup>22</sup>. Thus growing inequality of income and wealth will mean that high-income people will take more and more of what's available, pushing up prices for the best homes in the best places — a phenomenon which seems to have been reinforced by Covid-19.

A number of major contributions to the debate emphasise the distinctive features and key role of land and of land-ownership relationships as central to the way house prices and rents are actually formed. This is the core of the powerful work of Ryan-Collins et al and Ben Fine and important for Christophers and Beitel<sup>23</sup>. Key points from these radical critiques are: (i) the idea of "a" national market in housing where supply interacts with demand is a purely mental construct and does not fit reality; (ii) reality is that there are multiple interlocking markets for homes of different types in diverse regions and localities with scarcities and market prices determined in different ways: (iii) prices and rents in all these sub-markets are determined by power relations and social institutions: some rather universal and globalised like financialisation, others essentially national like England's leasehold system and similar rather mediaeval privileges of the landed interest, others specific and local to do with labour markets, landscape, infrastructure and local politics; (iv) land owners and developers always have potential to appropriate a share of the social product as rent, profit or capital gain but the extent to which they can actually do so depends upon the configuration of these multi-scale power relations and the regulatory environment; (v) a distinctive feature of the way a small coterie or oligopoly of major housebuilding developers gets localities sewn up is the creation of option contracts which

enable other developers to be excluded from land. These options are not (yet) visible in the Land Registry so the whole process is obscured.<sup>24</sup>

# **Proposed reforms**

There are various contradictory features of the government's proposals. One is that it is axiomatic for the strategy that more planning permissions (or land on which permission is guaranteed or has prior approval) will lead developers and land owners to develop more and bring prices down. It has yet to be explained why developers should continue to build when selling prices are falling, indeed they seem to be adept at avoiding ever doing that by trickling-out their completions slowly enough to maintain high selling prices<sup>25</sup>.

A second contradictory feature of the government's plans is that, while they trust 'the market' to deliver the homes we need, they plan also to set each local authority a binding target to ensure that enough land is identified to achieve a pre-determined target of 300,000 homes per year for England as a whole. The extent to which any number of additional homes would make a difference to affordability in problem areas depends of course on where the homes were built, at what price level and so on, so a national target is a meaningless thing. In an attempt to appear rational, the government first tried a formula which gave the biggest targets to areas exhibiting the worst affordability, not a bad idea. This, however, pointed to massive building in many of the luxury home counties and privileged Tory strongholds whose MPs rose up to protest. That formula was replaced by one which allocates more of the production to urban areas, without much justification beyond that. The outcome remains to be seen but it has always been a problem for the Tories that they can't simultaneously gratify employers and workers who want more affordable housing and the landed and owner-occupying rural interests and the housebuilding corporations (their patrons) which want ever-escalating prices.

The government's proposals are very narrowly cast, disregarding the aspects of the housing problem involving debt, pensions and saving, affecting transport, the environment and global warming or the macro-stability of the whole economy. Planning is seen as the problem and major changes to planning are seen as the solution.

The government's planning proposals appear mainly disconnected from 'Levelling Up'. The detailed proposals in the white paper would certainly have made further inroads into the production of new council/social housing, continuing a long downward pressure on highly affordable types of output. It is social housing at council (or social) rents which is most urgently needed in almost every part of the UK. The proposals in the White Paper prioritise subsidies to 'First Homes' and other middle market supports, give local infrastructure priority claims on development levies and threaten to leave less and less support for social housing. That would add to inequality.

Most important in the long run is that granting landowners an *entitlement* to develop (providing only that they satisfied some rules) would make it harder or impossible for a future government to restore the public right to compulsory purchase at existing use value. That right would be crucial to many of the instruments a progressive government could use to enable new

developments or transformation schemes in the interests of the whole society and its coexistence with nature.

#### **Solutions**

The government is wrong about planning. What would be right?

If 'Levelling Up' is to have substantial meaning it would have to tackle the roots and mechanisms of inequality. Many of these are non-geographic and lie outside the scope of this pamphlet and the White Paper: the balance of direct and indirect taxes, social security benefits, labour market regulation to improve job security, safety and union rights, land, inheritance and capital gains taxation, corporate governance and pension funds.

However there is much that planning could do –indeed will have to do– to respond to the twin challenges of Levelling Up and the environmental crisis.

Most important of all would be to contribute to housing being valued less as a financial asset and more as space to live. There will need to be less pressure for price escalation and more for price stability. If people are to be relieved of the need and incentive to pump all their savings into housing there will need to be new and appealing media to attract them – to spend or to save in environmentally sustainable ways. This will be a major challenge for departmentalised government because the whole economy and society will have to change.

Britain will have to work out how to use and modify our deeply unhelpful settlement pattern, including how to meet more of our needs without powered travel (against the trends of concentration in public and private services). We have to evaluate alternative strategies for retrofitting our ageing building stock & supersede fossil fuel heating and transport. Because of the massive amounts of embodied carbon in our inherited stock of buildings and infrastructure we'll have to live with most of what we have, to minimise demolition and replacement.

All of this will be both scary and emancipatory. We shall all have to sacrifice some beloved activities and habits, explore and design new ways and places of working, ways of collaborating and sharing, ways of getting around, feeding ourselves and each other and so on. This amounts to a lot of planning —more, not less— which will need to engage the support and enthusiasm, or a least consent, of entire populations in neighbourhoods, cities, regions and scaling up to the whole world. This is not a time to restrict democratic public participation in local affairs. Quite the reverse.

# Planning for the economy —recovery, infrastructure and local survival or transformation

# **Current problems to be tackled**

The scale of change needed in different localities varies widely. Areas with deep problems exist all over the country, but they are more concentrated in parts of the Midlands and the North. So the challenge is both national, to improve areas with problems wherever they are, and regional, to have a supplementary focus on those regions and sub-regions with the biggest concentration of poverty and often related problems. Similarly the causation of the present situation is both national and more specific to local areas, based on their varied deep historical geographies. Nationally the massive cuts to social security and virtually all public services in recent years (above all in the last decade) have caused hundreds of local crisis zones, where the previous public support at personal, community and wider area levels has declined and social, economic and environmental suffering has been generated by this deliberately chosen governmental path<sup>26</sup>. This part of this pamphlet seeks to analyse these problems and then consider new approaches to dealing with them effectively. There is a focus on planning later, but this always needs to be seen in relation to the wider picture of causes, processes and supporting public policies needed.

# Framing the question: rhetorical "Levelling Up" versus tackling the foundations

The UK economic question, nationally and locally, has been framed in various ways in the post Brexit period, partly in relation to Brexit, partly and for planning purposes most centrally, by the language of "Levelling Up". In some ways this is clearly a desirable aim, shared across the political spectrum and in some sense a continuing aim of government policy since at least the 1930s. There can be sophisticated and necessary discussions about what the term really means, but that is not seen here as the main issue. What is increasingly clear is that the problem with the Johnson government's espousing this aim as the dominant one of its short and long term agenda is that it has no idea of how to achieve it. Criticism has already been emerging across the political and intellectual spectrum on the weakness of current measures, which are mainly a combination of rhetorical politics and the setting up of numerous Funds which places have to bid for. The 2070 Commission has given the matter far more study than the government, moved somewhat further towards a diagnosis of the problem (clearly historically deep seated), and has proposed possible long term measures (hence the 2070) which might address it. Another body giving intelligent consideration of "growth across regions" is the National Infrastructure Commission<sup>27</sup>

It can be argued that even the 2070 approach will leave underlying issues unaddressed, which rest in the long term political economy of Britain – hence their enduring recurrence. Although readers of this pamphlet may not wish to engage with this basic political economy, it can be

argued that if one is serious about the real improvement of livelihoods, this is necessary. Below, one new reframing is offered, before moving back to the arguably somewhat more widely politically acceptable approach represented by *foundational economy* thinking.

Nancy Fraser has recently valuably reframed the way in which we may consider the nature of capitalism<sup>28</sup>, and this can be linked to ways of thinking which have been developing in the UK social sciences over the last decade and have begun to be related to planning. Fraser argues that we need to understand capitalism in a much more expansive sense than has been normal. Whilst its economic dynamics remain critical, these rest within a series of "background" elements which make up the whole picture. Very briefly these elements are social reproduction, the inputs of environment and nature, the separation of economy and politics, and processes of global exploitation and expropriation, which are intertwined with racism and related cultural phenomena. The "foreground" economic has to be connected to these other dimensions, because they are mutually constitutive, internally related. So an English town can be analysed in terms of its employment, investment and other economic categories, but the really existing local capitalist society is also constituted by the communities, natural environments, politics and cultural make-up and relations. In its most radical or sometimes socialist moments, programmes of local economic development have been aware of these links, for example in garden cities or the local socialist programmes of the 1980s.

The most recent expression of something like this kind of thinking is the development of the concept of *foundational economies*<sup>29</sup>. This has been used to highlight the fact that all localities have a wide range of employment and an equally wide range of forms of often unpaid sources of social reproduction, at work in families, community networks, and connected to public services. In Oxford the BMW car works is a typical "export" sector, as is international tourism. But public institutions like the universities, hospitals, councils and the less visible but equally critical unpaid reproductive sectors all make the economy (in a wider sense) work. Equally this ties in to the operating of the "local state", intertwined as this is with the UK national state, and to the services and processes of ecological systems and resources provision from outside. Whilst it may be difficult to hold all this in our mind at once, it is argued here that we need to think of the planning project in relation to all these dimensions, when thinking about localities and what they need in the future. In fact it is precisely planning's potentially integrating (in Fraser's terms *transversal*) nature —or at least aspiration— which makes it so right for relating to this kind of transversal reality and analysis.

# **Current wrong approaches**

Almost everything has been wrong about recent approaches to "planning and the economic".

One very elementary mistake was expressed by a previous Treasury advisor in a recent webinar as well as by another Conservative speaker, when it was said that it was impossible to think about longer term measures when considering recovery measures from a crisis like Covid. Tell that to the designers of the EU or Biden packages, let alone the long stream of proposals for Green New Deals since 2008. Such myopic thinking may well be normal in the Treasury but must not guide thinking about planning approaches. This is surely an ideal time to think about how to chain together short, medium and long term measures.

The continuing massive cuts in public programmes (Covid special measures notwithstanding) have decimated foundational economies. Government policy could hardly have been better designed to "leave behind" great swathes of the country: government led the leaving behind. It would be possible to pin down some of these more narrowly economic forces by analysing the seven sectors illuminated by Brett Christophers as at the heart of UK "rentier capitalism"<sup>30</sup>. These serve to reveal why productive capitalism is usually an afterthought in the UK, as against sectors that can be milked for high profits without too much work —property development, carbon capital, and infrastructure development in particular. This needs to be at the base of a deeper intellectual challenge to planning thinking, but will not be developed here.

Other elements of recent government policy (beyond the above "austerity") have been equally damaging for most local economies, including knee jerk repeated deregulation of planning and some other public policy sectors, the trickling sectoral deal or fund-based approaches to what used to be called regeneration, and the excessive and crude focus on housing numbers, to the detriment of integrated approaches and housing quality for those most needing it. Much of this is very reminiscent of 1980s approaches, which stressed deregulating enterprise zones and centralised intervention via Development Corporations and almost total control of local council spending. Those were largely wasteful and unsuccessful, although leading to certain forms of regeneration where enough public money was put in, often forms which had little attractiveness in wider societal terms –visible in London Docklands then or central Manchester now. Free ports and deep removal of planning control from councils show a mere updated variation on the same themes, probably even less effective, and demanding even more public money to give any returns<sup>31</sup>. Public waste is at the core of this path.

# New approaches needed

Local authorities are in a very weak position, in the great majority of cases, to make real improvements across all the fields which Fraser's analysis demands. The much-commented-on Preston model, or others in London and elsewhere, are of value, but their limitations are clear. Whilst more can no doubt be done in several areas to take action locally, whatever central government does, it will be a struggle to get far unless several of the constraining conditions are changed. This is because all these dimensions are linked. To improve local environmental conditions needs both regulatory control and budgets. The same applies in helping families and schools. Council housing is being built, by councils of all colours, but for this to be on a large scale, councils need to be able to control far more land, and retain or get back planning powers. Intervening in local cultural politics needs political capital which comes above all from doing things locally. An astute mayor like the current mayor of Bristol may be able to manage the pressures on the statues issue, but this will be hard without any access to resources and across the board public programmes —as well as with less dictation on the direction to be taken by local cultural institutions like museums.

Planning needs to move forward on a wide front, if it is to point towards the future which is needed. The challenge of zero carbon is increasingly widely identified, but this needs to be central to the next generation of Local Plans, in whatever form they survive, as well as to be connected up into the real geographies of regional economies, societies and ecosystems,

through some kind of new strategic planning. The National Infrastructure Commission has pointed to the necessary transformation of city regions across the country, and this is incorporated in the 2020 National Infrastructure Strategy<sup>32</sup>. The NIC is following this up with a study of smaller urban areas. But there are no systematic mechanisms or programmes for advancing on energy, transport and housing-retrofitting locally, in which planning could and should play a central part.

Economic recovery in most areas will depend on the patient input of public support from the national level, with guaranteed funding to the core building blocks of every foundational economy. As the NIC argued, transport settlements for city regions should be for at least five years, as are the national settlements for rail and road investment. Instead of small pockets of money released to politically favoured areas, reinventing the worst traditions of pork barrel politics<sup>33</sup>, there should be equity-based longer term settlements supporting local councils. This will then enable councils to build a new approach to local economic and social development, tied into low carbon trajectories. This can only be done at local and regional levels, and can only have legitimacy if led by democratically elected councils, working with advanced forms of deliberative discussions with their electorates. Planning should be at the core of this, integrating all the parts together in both the statutory plans and into wider Futures Plans.

Two good examples of fields where socio-economic gains and cutting back on carbon should be grasped now are the care sector and improving the housing stock. Given the nature of social care, this gives very good gains in gender terms<sup>34</sup>. House retrofitting by insulation and replacing gas boilers with heat pump or other improved systems can also be led by progressive training programmes. Both sectors should be part of the push for living wages across increasing swathes of foundational economies.

Big new infrastructure will often be needed, as the NIS shows, with new rail capacity essential if the phasing out of the motorway system is to be a genuine aim for a decade or two's time, putting the great majority of freight and passenger transport into sustainable movement modes. Lots of new hydro, solar and other renewable electricity generation will be needed, as well as massive investment in energy saving –if the dinosaur fossil and nuclear plants are similarly to be phased out, and our current high-carbon-based lives left behind. The next NIA or NIS should become genuinely deep green and tied in to socially led regional policy. But for now, the current NIS can be used to back strategic plans across the country. All this should be at the core of local economic and community strategies. A fresh form of transversal local and strategic planning has to be invented to get all this moving towards implementation. Local Plans just focused on housing numbers and green belt fights should become a thing of the past.

# Restoring local government is key to Levelling Up

This section of the pamphlet argues that the Whitehall approach to local government over the last ten years has systematically increased social and economic inequalities across the country —and the proposals for Levelling Up do not propose in any way to reverse this. In fact, they will make the country more unequal by funding projects on the basis of short-term electoral advantage, thus achieving precisely the opposite of Levelling Up. The opportunity to reempower and resource local government to enable Levelling Up to be meaningful (including reinstating its democratic planning function), is staring Government in the face but for ideological reasons they will not go there.

After ten years of cuts and unequal treatment between rich and poor authorities, public services particularly for the most vulnerable and the most economically deprived have been severely damaged by underfunding and out-sourcing. These cuts have made positive planning for communities almost impossible.

Local government services (the list includes: social care, housing, planning, public transport, parks, libraries, play centres, education, public health, youth services, traffic and transport, support for the community and voluntary sector) are the fundamentals of community life. They have been cut back, privatised —and demoralized.

Some local authorities, e.g. the Metro mayors, have fought back and have come up with creative solutions to show that even when central government is not supporting them there are alternatives. Many other councils have accepted their fate or have sold off land and buildings, making recovery even more difficult and expensive.

Inequality is the result of deep economic and social factors but one of them is the sharp geographical difference between the ability of local councils to tackle the social and economic conditions they are faced with. All public services are affected. Taking one recent example, the 2021 MacAlister report on young people in care said that 'Children living in the bottom 10% most deprived neighbourhoods are ten times more likely to be on a child protection plan than those in the least deprived neighbourhoods'. Another example is the 70% cut in youth services over a decade – 4500 youth centres closed across the country particularly in the poorest areas. Another example is the shocking under-resourcing of children's services across the board which are greater in the most deprived and cash starved councils<sup>35</sup>.

Long running persistent inequalities across all communities are a daily fact of life for most local authorities. They deal every day with people queuing desperately for housing and social services and are only too aware they are unable to meet these needs.

This is the scale of inequality that must now be tackled if 'Levelling Up' is to mean anything. Gross social disparities between regions and within towns and cities cannot be reversed by political sound bites from No 10 Downing Street. They require deep structural, people-centred change, and a massive redistribution of resources and powers.

On top of all this, the Covid pandemic has hit the most deprived areas hardest. The Marmot report on Greater Manchester<sup>36</sup> (2021) spells out that Covid mortality was 25% higher in the

poorest areas of the city than in the country as a whole. Covid exposed problems of poor housing, lack of open space, inequalities of health care and schooling, and inadequate care for children and the elderly. In other words, the most deprived and disadvantaged areas of the country have got more deprived and have suffered most as a result of the pandemic. Thus, there is even more catching up and redistribution required.

# The problem

According to the Institute for Government there was a 36% cut back in real terms in central government grant to local authorities in England between 2009 and 2018. This amounted to a reduction of £10bn between 2009 and 2018.<sup>37</sup> The most affected by these cuts were Metropolitan authorities and London Boroughs, many controlled by Labour, which had the highest levels of deprivation in the country. Least affected by cuts in central government grant were Tory authorities in the East, South-East and South-West with lower levels of deprivation. In other words, the cuts affected those who needed it most.

Moreover, the mechanisms that were supposed to compensate for the cuts in central government grant –increasing council tax and using business rates– are least effective in the most deprived areas because their poorer residents suffer most from council tax rises and because their economies generate lower levels of business rates income. The business rate is a national rate of tax on commercial property values set by Central Government and is the same across the country so that revenue from business rates is higher in wealthier areas (which have more valuable business premises and often more of them) and lower in deprived areas which need it most.

Although councils have put up council taxes and used receipts from business rates, these contributions to services have not made up the shortfall. The Local Government Association say that even if these compensations continue, there will be a £7.8bn funding gap to 2025. Indeed, Government has now virtually cut all revenue support to local government. 168 local authorities will receive no central government revenue support at all in 2021. They must rely entirely on council tax, charges for public services, and business rates – whatever the level of inequality, need or deprivation. Overall, the Institute for Fiscal Studies anticipates Government will spend between £14bn and £17bn less on public services from April 2022<sup>38</sup>.

Even if the shortfall was miraculously made up, this would only take us back to 2009 levels and will not deal with deep levels of inequality, nor with the increased demand for child protection, housing for the homelessness, social housing and social care.

The truth is that when 10 Downing Street talks of 'Levelling Up' they do not mean reversing austerity, or a systematic programme delivered by local government and other democratic channels to tackle poverty and inequality across the country. Instead, they are engaged in electioneering. They promise money for 'Red Wall' constituencies for roads and buses for example to meet demands from their new MPs that voting Tory means something. But they will not get to grips with restoring and enhancing core local services such as adult social care, education, public housing, parks, and libraries. This is evident from the fact that the Levelling Up Fund does not include a new revenue funding deal for local services. Deep problems of

deprivation and disadvantage across the country require major and sustained increases in revenue funding for public services.

# Where does town planning come in?

Planning is needed to designate land for housing, public services, open space and employment. It is also a system that allows the public to debate individual planning applications wherever they may be. It is a crucial instrument for a democratic spatial distribution of resources and services. Yet, over the last ten years, town planning services have been cut back and planning controls have been reduced in the interests of promoting growth at any price —enforced in particular by national house building targets and extensions of Permitted Development Rights. Government sees town planning as essentially an obstacle to business —not a framework to ensure it has some democratic spatial logic. Whitehall will apparently decide what capital and infrastructure projects it will support, and the planners and communities will just have to accept it.

Regional coordinating bodies like the Northern Powerhouse give the appearance of local legitimacy but on close inspection it is clear they are run by establishment appointees (George Osborne chairs the Northern Powerhouse, for example) and are a channel for Whitehall decisions. They in turn are shadowed by the Northern Research Group of MPs who are mostly Northern and Midlands Tory MPs strongly focused on getting Government funding for their own constituencies. In this context, inequalities and poverty –and local democracy- are secondary.

The limited role for local democracy is illustrated by the terms of the changes forseen in the WhitePaper. In a different world a new planning act would strengthen local democracy, but in the world of Downing Street the opposite is the case. Local planning authorities will be required to scrap their existing Local Plans and draw up new plans to a Government-imposed timescale and mandatory national house building targets. The plans will designate areas and sites where, instead of public scrutiny of planning applications, there will be automatic consent. Local government planning departments will face the wrath of communities when they designate automatic consent areas against the wishes of the public. It will cost a small fortune in administration and delay to make the changes. One thing it will NOT do is level up economic, housing, environmental or social conditions across the country.

# Local authority views

Local authorities know that Levelling Up cannot be just about the North/South divide or pork barrel politics but must tackle inequality within all regions and towns and cities across the country<sup>39</sup> Nor can Levelling Up be funding solely for infrastructure and capital projects. It must include increased revenue funding for core services. Yet it is inconceivable that HM Treasury will let go its control over local budgets and projects. Rather the opposite, as the post pandemic fiscal crisis begins to bite, HM Treasury will insist on even more control –happy to spend from the Magic Money Tree when it suits their politics but not on local government services.

Local authorities are determined that funding must be based on objective assessment of needs and non-partisan funding criteria. It cannot be pots of money for town centres or bus routes handed out on the basis of Whitehall criteria influenced by party political bias. Nor does it fool anyone to give out funding for infrastructure and, at the same time, to limit funding for core national services like Universal Credit, NHS, Education and Skills, Social Care and Criminal Justice that are essential for reducing poverty and inequality.

Local authorities want to know what Government really means by Levelling Up. What will be the definitions of success? How will Levelling Up be measured? And over what period —2 years, 5 years, 10 years? Will it be measured by convergence of educational attainment, reduced crime and increased community safety, higher wages, more job security, longer life expectancy, lower housing prices and better quality? What of environmental measures such as access to open space, enhancing biodiversity, and reducing flooding? What of the new challenges of retrofitting older buildings, and greening the economy? And what of the post pandemic public health services run by local authorities — will they get additional funds and who will pay for that?

It is reasonable to think that the Government indicator will be something crude like 'jobs created' or £s of investment. We know how bad those measures were in the regeneration zones of the 1980s. New buildings went up but poverty in and around the regeneration areas was untouched. 'Trickle down' failed. Who will be blamed for the inevitable non-delivery of Levelling Up targets —local government or central government? – it is not difficult to guess who the Government has in mind.

#### **Solutions**

There is no mystery about how to 'Build Back Better' or 'Level Up' in a genuine way. The independent UK 2070 Commission in 2020 produced a post-Covid ten year action plan which called for a radical redistribution of power and funding<sup>40</sup>. It identified five criteria: filling the productivity gap; access to jobs; a unified standard for basic services; raising educational attainment; and equitable proposals for social mobility. The Commission argued for a comprehensive Roosevelt-style New Deal to deliver a compelling regional realignment.

A new funding formula for local government and strong, purposeful spatial planning would be at the centre of achieving this agenda, directing development to where it's most needed to address long-standing uneven development.

The Marmot report into poverty in Greater Manchester could not be clearer that poverty must be tackled at a deep level. The proper revenue funding of local government restoring powers over health, social care and planning is essential. There is no technical difficulty in delivering this – it is entirely a political issue.

Levelling Up is a political slogan. It is plainly not a strategy for tackling spatial inequalities or for rescuing cash-starved public services. Without reviving local government and creating a fully functioning democratic planning system, communities and public services cannot be rebuilt. Levelling Up appears to be mainly about funding capital projects in 'the Red Wall' areas in order to create a political feel-good factor. The planning relaxions would have a part to play in this by giving automatic permission to selected capital projects with minimal local consultation.

Elsewhere, there will be few handouts. This pork barrel, 'trickle down' approach will increase spatial and social inequalities not reduce them. Continued revenue cuts to local government and the centralisation of economic and social policy in Whitehall tells the true story.

As for the democratic town planning function of local government, it continues to be marginalised. As long as this is so, spatial inequalities will increase. There is no vision from the Government that sees town planning as a constructive democratic function to guide a reversal of deep social, economic and environmental inequalities across the country. The absence of this vision reveals the bankruptcy of the Levelling Up agenda.

# **Green Recovery**

Planning for the Future does not pave the way for the 'green recovery' that England needs in order to address the crisis of climate change and the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic on society and the economy.

A stark warning has been issued internationally by the Inter-Governmental Panel on Climate Change's latest report. All Society has had an "unequivocal influence" on global warming. Not all societies have had the same influence, given the much greater level of emissions from countries such as the UK. The "scale of the change is unprecedented" according to the findings. We can all observe the extreme weather events happening both here and across the world. Historical emissions' effects will continue to be felt in the coming years. And only an extremely radical reduction in emissions will stabilise the situation.

The way in which the country responded to the pandemic relied upon the willingness of people to act in an emergency in a way that protects others, not just themselves; public trust and support for the national health service, for the use of regulation and local government delivery. Responding to the climate crisis requires similar thinking.

Deregulated planning cannot address climate change. We need to organise a collective public response to a broad societal crisis. Public structures are required to address the mammoth task of getting to net zero. For a green recovery to be realised, a strong public interest planning system is needed.

The pandemic has shown the vulnerability of our economic and welfare structures. Essential jobs in health, cleaning, social care and food retail are shown to be some of the lowest paid jobs in the UK. Stark inequalities have been revealed and widened, like Manchester's life expectancy being so much lower than wealthier areas in the South of England. We need better public health. That means being able to walk to the doctor and dentist safely, being able to call to your children playing in the park from your flat or home wherever you live, breathing clean air on your doorstep, and having enough space inside your home to be comfortable whatever your income. It also means having homes that are cool in summer and warm in winter without huge bills mounting up. The planning system is capable of delivering these outcomes for communities.

# The crisis of climate change

The crisis of climate change and the devastating impact it is having on our world is described by economists such as Lord Stern as a market failure.<sup>43</sup> Cities such as Hull and Portsmouth are facing over 1 metre of sea level rise in the next fifty years.<sup>44</sup> The planning system is capable of being a strong market control, correcting some of that failure – it can prevent urban sprawl and out of town development, promote the re-use of brownfield land, require zero carbon homes, enable renewable energy, pedestrianise town centres, increase cycle lanes, and restrict fossil fuel extraction.

# Planning and the green recovery

Why are the rules we need to drive a green and equitable recovery being removed in England when the country has less than 15 years to make radical changes to our housing, transport and energy systems? By 2035, the UK has committed to a 78% reduction on emissions. <sup>45</sup> To realise this reduction, radical action is needed. The Committee on Climate Change has recommended a "net zero test" including for all planning decisions. <sup>46</sup> Given the major role planning has in shaping the buildings, transport and energy systems that can deliver on the UK's legally binding greenhouse gas emissions reduction target and its commitment to the Paris Agreement, any planning reform has to be tested with this in mind.

As we are already on course for significant sea level rise and significant flooding increases, we also have to adapt to these changes. Can we do this without working together through planning?

Planning provides the opportunity to think and plan collaboratively for how places could function within a climate-adapted, zero carbon world. Deciding on what happens where should also be done democratically and *with* people, rather than *to* people. Just as the pandemic has had a profound impact on people's lives, and people have had to act for each other, so will tackling climate change have a profound impact on everyone. Communities are best placed to plan and decide for themselves, with technical help, how to change the places and ways we live to zero carbon.

# What are the new jobs in the green recovery?

There is huge potential for quality jobs in building and retrofitting, engineering and technology, green and blue adaptation. In England's renewable energy and low-carbon economy, the Local Government Association says that nearly 700,000 direct jobs could be created by 2030, rising to more than 1.18 million by 2050.<sup>47</sup> Insulation, offshore wind and heat networks are just some of the areas where high job potential has been predicted.<sup>48</sup>

#### Zero carbon homes

There are currently no plans for the updated building codes to require zero carbon until possibly 2025.<sup>49</sup> That means that it will have been almost 10 years since the original target of 2016 for building zero carbon was adopted and then abandoned. There are over a million unbuilt permissions for homes, very few of which are zero carbon.<sup>50</sup> While these new permissions and the homes that are consented over the next 30 years are crucial, it is estimated that 84% of the 2050 built environment is already in existence now, so a huge retrofit programme of insulation is also required.<sup>51</sup>

#### **Active travel**

Most journeys in the UK are made by private car and there are over 30 million cars on the road.<sup>52</sup> It isn't possible to swop all of them for electric vehicles. The greenest way to move

around, and one that more people have had a chance to experience because of the pandemic restrictions on travel, is by walking and cycling. But we are currently walking and cycling around places that have been built around the private car, so we need to reallocate the road space accordingly. We have to rethink the way we travel, planning and retrofitting development around public transport for those longer distances, and considering the new infrastructure we need such as electric vehicle charging points. We also have to rethink choices around where we live – actively choosing to live in places that have everything we need within walking distance.

# Renewable energy

Coal fired power stations are due to be phased out by 2025. Renewable energy generation from wind and solar has overtaken gas and coal for the last year.<sup>53</sup> Despite the plans for much more offshore wind,<sup>54</sup> onshore wind is subject to an effective ban through planning in England. If the electricity system for the UK were to be 90% renewable by 2050,<sup>55</sup> we would need to be doubling the amount of renewable energy capacity that has so far been built every year over the last five years. Electricity use will increase as transport moves across to being powered by electricity. Harnessing solar, wind and hydro energy has the advantage that they are geographically distributed – every community can have access to one of more of these sources, and every community can have jobs in relation to building and installing these new energy systems.

# What do the planning reforms mean for the green recovery?

The Government's 2020 White Paper reforms for planning in England would have meant that that there were no longer individual decisions on many development proposals. At the time of writing we do not know what forms of new deregulating planning will emerge, after the pausing of the White Paper proposals. But any further weakening of planning will weaken the climate change response.

Permitted development rights have seen over 70,000 homes created or converted from existing buildings since 2016,<sup>56</sup> none of which had any climate change or significant health considerations evaluated. Increasing amounts of permitted development are being proposed despite these problems.

# What does a planning system for a green recovery need to do?

As Lord Deben pointed out to the Commons' Environmental Audit Committee inquiry into the sustainability of the built environment: "MHCLG is central to the achievement of net zero, and unless this is its driving force, we are not going to do it." The land use planning system in England is currently hampered by complexity introduced by successive reforms, increasing amounts of permitted development, weak national guidance in the National Planning Policy Framework, and the absence of legal duties to consider climate change mitigation, and resilience, on decision-taking under both major infrastructure and town and country planning systems.

The question is then how does the planning system achieve the changes in housing, transport, energy and the natural environment that we need. First, the planning system needs to be stable and plans need to be based on the risk of severe climate change impacts. Many of the measures that we need to take to address flooding or sea level rise require long term plans. This is where spatial planning comes into its own as responding to urban heat or flood risk cannot be done on a site by site basis. Planning must also be able to prohibit development that is simply, geographically, unsustainable. This may be in areas of extreme flood risk or coastal retreat. Other measures that should be introduced are that planning decision-makers have duties on resilience that are clearly defined and that the Climate Change Act 2008's budgets are connected much more strongly to plan-making and decision-taking.

# **Conclusions**

We have made clear in this pamphlet that while the aim of levelling up deprived parts of the country is unarguable, the way the Government is tackling this is superficial, driven by short term political motives and in a way that will increase regional disparities rather than reduce them.

We have stressed the umbilical linking of 'Levelling Up' with a positive active public planning agenda. We hardly need to repeat that the current anti-planning reforms proposed by Government will give no help in creating that integration of public investment in certain localities required for 'Levelling Up'. Quite the opposite, it is hard to see how the current government mindset on planning could do anything but harm a serious approach to Levelling Up.

This is in part ideological. Levelling Up needs joined up collective action over long periods, steered by governments. We would know for example if the government was taking Levelling Up seriously if it was focusing concentrated attention on the plight of deprived communities across the country, as well as abolishing poverty wages and zero hour contracts. Policy reversals like this are needed alongside planning if locality packages are to make genuine progress over the medium term. For this, current Conservatism has to shift its basic ideas, or it will simply fail on this, as it will on climate response. Does it want such failures as its legacy? (In fact, we think it will prefer failure to changing its ideas.)

# Levelling Up and climate action together

Following on from the last section, there is a risk that the equal urgency of this social-economic agenda and the climate crisis conditions we are in will not be thought through together. When the 2070 Commission published its main report in February 2020, the climate issue was given limited prominence, with the programme presented not stressing the integration of the regional question and the climate response question. The approach might be characterised as predominantly a contemporary, thoroughly updated version of public regional policy, as it was practised from the 1930s to the 1980s, or, putting it another way, emulating the massive effort made by Germany to haul up its eastern regions to the national average of life conditions, over 30 years.

The 2070 Commission's October 2020 report began to close this gap, and we would point readers to the Commission's work, including both major reports<sup>59</sup>. These contain a far more serious engagement with Levelling Up, however that is conceived, than does the Johnson government. Perhaps the White Paper on Levelling Up expected in late 2021 will redress that balance, but we are not holding our breath. Unless these three policy fields are knitted together –helping localities with the most problems, planning the future in socially and environmentally sensible geographies, transitioning to net zero –none will be remotely successful.

We argue in this pamphlet that the proposed planning reforms will make disparities worse, both regional/urban disparities and those nationwide yawning gulfs associated with the broken housing system.

But what planning reforms would support long term locality improvement for the worst hit areas? We can state six broad criteria to start with:

- Reforms must give localities public steering strength, by withdrawing the recent rash of permitted development rights (which strip places and communities of power) and ensuring local plans can take back control of how space is used.
- Within localities, reforms must strengthen the roles played by citizens and communities, without whose active creativity and support neither Levelling Up nor adequate response to the climate emergency will be possible.
- Reforms must enable decisions at the right level, by creating strong strategic plans for economic development and housing with long term funding attached.
- Planning must make public health a key objective of decisions about new development.
- Reforms must make zero-carbon a core requirement of every Plan and every substantial planning application decision.
- Social housing & special needs housing should be prioritised to help reverse the mechanism which makes housing worsen inequality.

# **Notes**

<sup>1</sup> Robert Jenrick, speech to LGA Conference, 2021

- <sup>3</sup> TCPA and APSE, *Housing for a fairer society: The role of councils in ensuring stronger societies*. https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/housing-for-a-fairer-society-the-role-of-councils-in-ensuring-stronger-societies
- <sup>4</sup> UK 2070 Commission final report 2020 *Declaration of Intent. Building a Fairer and Stronger Society* <a href="http://uk2070.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Declaration of Intent Brochure.pdf">http://uk2070.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Declaration of Intent Brochure.pdf</a>
- <sup>5</sup> Marmot Review, UCL Institute of Health Equity 2020, *Build Back Fairer in Greater Manchester: Health Equity and Dignified Lives* <a href="https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/about-our-work/latest-updates-from-the-institute/greater-manchester-a-marmot-city-region">https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/about-our-work/latest-updates-from-the-institute/greater-manchester-a-marmot-city-region</a>
- <sup>6</sup> The authors were among the contributors to two earlier publications about the planning reforms and White Paper: The wrong answers to the wrong questions and The right answers to the right questions. Both are at https://www.tcpa.org.uk/the-right-answers-to-the-right-questions
- <sup>7</sup> Planning for the Future (2020) https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future Foreword by the Prime Minister
- <sup>8</sup> Clough Williams-Ellis (1929) England and the Octopus, London, Parker
- <sup>9</sup> Patrick Abercrombie (1933) Town and Country Planning, London, Thornton Butterworth
- <sup>1010</sup> Country and Town a summary of the Scott and Uthwatt Reports with an introduction by G. M Young (1943), Harmondsworth, Penguin
- <sup>11</sup> Thomas Sharp (1940) Town Planning, Harmondsworth, Penguin
- <sup>12</sup> In Stephenson and Poll 1944 A Plan for Town and Country, p7
- <sup>13</sup> Morphet, J. (2021). Public Value Management in Brexit Britain. In *Public Value Management, Governance and Reform in Britain* (pp. 227-257). Palgrave Macmillan
- <sup>14</sup> Morphet, J (2021). Outsourcing in the UK: Policies, Practices and Outcomes, Policy Press
- <sup>15</sup> OECD (2021) <a href="https://www.oecd.org/els/family/PH5-1-Measures-financing-affordable-housing-development.pdf">https://www.oecd.org/els/family/PH5-1-Measures-financing-affordable-housing-development.pdf</a>; OECD (2020) Social housing: A key part of past and future housing policy <a href="https://www.oecd.org/social/social-housing-policy-brief-2020.pdf">https://www.oecd.org/social/social-housing-policy-brief-2020.pdf</a>
- <sup>16</sup> BEIS 2019 Greenhouse Gas Emissions, table 1 and text https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/875485/2019 UK greenhouse gas emissions provisional figures statistical release.pdf
  Pre-pandemic figures are used. The travel figure is for all transport
- <sup>17</sup> Breach, Anthony (Centre for Cities) (2020) The future of the planning system in England <a href="https://www.centreforcities.org/publication/the-future-of-the-planning-system-in-england">https://www.centreforcities.org/publication/the-future-of-the-planning-system-in-england</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Alex Morton and Jethro Eisden, Reshaping Spaces, Centre for Policy Studies, 2021

<sup>18</sup> Hall, P and N Falk (2013) *Good cities, better lives: how Europe discovered the lost art of urbanism.* London, Routledge

- <sup>19</sup> Mulheirn, I (Tony Blair Institute) (2020) Tackling the UK Housing Crisis: is Supply the Answer? https://housingevidence.ac.uk/publications/tackling-the-uk-housing-crisis-is-supply-the-answer
- <sup>20</sup> Robertson, M (2016) The system of provision for housing in selected case study countries London, FESSUD Working Paper Series, 193; Aalbers, M B and B Christophers (2014) "Centring Housing in Political Economy" *Housing, Theory and Society* **31**(4): 373-394
- <sup>21</sup> Gallent, N, D Durrant and N May (2017) Housing supply, investment demand and money creation: a comment on the drivers of London's housing crisis *Urban Studies* <a href="http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/1546192/">http://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/1546192/</a>; Ryan-Collins, J, T Lloyd and L Macfarlane (2017) *Rethinking the Economics of Land and Housing* London Zed Press with Muellbauer preface.
- <sup>22</sup> Cheshire, P, and S Sheppard (1998) Estimating the Demand for Housing, Land and Neighbourhood Characteristics *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics* 60(3): 357-382 estimate income elasticity as about 2; and Cheshire cites Meen (2013) about 2.7 > than price elasticity of demand; OBR 2014 about 3.
- <sup>23</sup> Christophers, B (2019) The rentierization of the UK Economy *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space;* Christophers, B. (2019) *The New Enclosures: the appropriation of public land in Neo-Liberal Britain*, Penguin Random House; Fine, B (2019) Marx's rent theory revisited? Landed property, nature and value *Economy and Society;* Beitel, K (2016) Circuits of capital, ground rent and the production of the built environment: a (new) framework for analysis *Social Geography* 9(3): 27-42
- <sup>24</sup> Ryan-Collins et al; Colenutt, B (2020) *The Property Lobby: the Hidden Reality behind the Housing Crisis* Bristol, Policy Press
- 25 Letwin, Oliver (2018a) *Independent review of build out: Final report*, CM9720, London: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
- <sup>26</sup> M Gray and A Barford, 2018, The depths of the cuts: the uneven geography of local government austerity, *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, 11, 3, 541-563.
- <sup>27</sup> https://nic.org.uk/studies-reports/growth-across-regions/ Report published November 2020.
- <sup>28</sup> Nancy Fraser, 2021, Climates of capital. For a trans-environmental eco-socialism, *New Left Review 127*, 94-127, and Nancy Fraser and Rahel Jaeggi, 2018, *Capitalism. A conversation in critical theory*, Polity, Cambridge.
- <sup>29</sup> Foundational Economy Collective, 2018, *The Foundational Economy. The infrastructure of everyday life*, Manchester University Press, Manchester.
- <sup>30</sup> Brett Christophers, 2019, The rentierization of the United Kingdom economy, *EPA Economy and Space*, and Brett Christophers, 2020, *Rentier Capitalism*, Verso, London
- <sup>31</sup> See Jennifer Robinson and Katya Attuyer, 2021, Extracting value, London style: Revisiting the role of the state in urban development, *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 45, 2, 303-331
- <sup>32</sup> H M Treasury, 2020, *National Infrastructure Strategy*, H M Treasury, London
- 33 Chris Hanretty, 2020, The pork barrel politics of the Towns Fund, The Political Quarterly, 91,1, 125-133
- <sup>34</sup> COVID care-led recovery\_IKD\_WP85\_2020\_06\_12 (003).pdf (open.ac.uk)
- <sup>35</sup> Weale, Sally, 2020, Youth Services suffer 70% funding cut in less than a decade' Guardian, 20.1.20

- <sup>36</sup> UCL Institute of Health Equity, *Build Back Fairer in Greater Manchester: Health Equity and Dignified* Lives, June 2021
- <sup>37</sup> Institute for Government, 2020, Local Government funding in England, 10.3.20
- <sup>38</sup> Local Government Association, 2020, £10 billion Spending Review investment needed to protect and improve local services
- <sup>39</sup> New Statesman special issue on 'What does real investment mean for communities', June 2021
- <sup>40</sup> UK 2070 Commission 2020 http://uk2070.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Go-Big-Go-Local.pdf
- <sup>41</sup> IPCC, 2021: Summary for Policymakers. In: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V, P Zhai, A Pirani, S L Connors, C Péan, S Berger, N Caud, Y Chen, L Goldfarb, M I, Gomis, M, Huang, K, Leitzell, E, Lonnoy, JBR, Matthews, TK, Maycock, T, Waterfield, O, Yelekçi, R Yu and B Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. In Press.
- <sup>42</sup> Marmot Review, UCL Institute of Health Equity 2020, *Build Back Fairer in Greater Manchester: Health Equity and Dignified Lives* <a href="https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/about-our-work/latest-updates-from-the-institute/greater-manchester-a-marmot-city-region">https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/about-our-work/latest-updates-from-the-institute/greater-manchester-a-marmot-city-region</a>
- 43 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2007/nov/29/climatechange.carbonemissions
- 44 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances
- <sup>45</sup> 78% against 1990 levels by 2035 as set by The Carbon Budget Order 2021, June 2021
- 46 https://www.theccc.org.uk/2021/06/24/time-is-running-out-for-realistic-climate-commitments/
- <sup>47</sup> Ecuity Consulting, 2020, Local green jobs accelerating a sustainable economic recovery, Local Government Association, <a href="https://www.ecuity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Local-green-jobs-accelerating-a-sustainable-economic-recovery\_final.pdf">https://www.ecuity.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Local-green-jobs-accelerating-a-sustainable-economic-recovery\_final.pdf</a>
- <sup>48</sup> IPPR Environmental Justice Commission <a href="https://www.ippr.org/environment-and-justice">https://www.ippr.org/environment-and-justice</a>
- <sup>49</sup>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/9560 94/Government\_response\_to\_Future\_Homes\_Standard\_consultation.pdf
- <sup>50</sup> https://www.local.gov.uk/about/news/over-1-million-homes-planning-permission-waiting-be-built-new-lga-analysis
- <sup>51</sup> https://www.ukgbc.org/news/ukgbc-joins-call-for-nationwide-home-retrofit-scheme-to-make-houses-more-energy-efficient/
- https://www.racfoundation.org/motoring-faqs/mobility; https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/87064 7/tsqb-2019.pdf
- <sup>53</sup>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/9973 47/Energy\_Trends\_June\_2021.pdf
- 54 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-plans-to-make-uk-world-leader-in-green-energy
- <sup>55</sup> https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Sector-summary-Electricity-generation.pdf
- <sup>56</sup> Dr Ben Clifford, Dr Patricia Canelas, Dr Jessica Ferm and Dr Nicola Livingstone, Bartlett School of Planning, UCL; Professor Alex Lord and Dr Richard Dunning Department of Geography and Planning, University of Liverpool, Research into the quality standard of homes delivered through change of use permitted development rights for CLG, July 2020

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/90222\_0/Research\_report\_quality\_PDR\_homes.pdf

Online documents were consulted in August and September 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Environmental Audit Committee, Oral evidence: Sustainability of the built environment, HC 76, Wednesday 14 July 2021, Ordered by the House of Commons to be published on 14 July 2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Prior approval for new forms of permitted development does not have to consider climate mitigation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> UK 2070 Commission: Final report 2020 and GoBigGoLocal report 2020 both previously cited.